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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

CHRISTINA CARMAN-NURSE,
Plaintiff,

V. No. 3:16-cv-1987 (VAB)
METROPOLITAN DISTRICT

COMMISSION,
Defendant

RULING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND OTHER PENDING
MOTIONS

Christina Carman-Nurse (“Plaintiff”) initiatedighlawsuit in state court, alleging that her
former employer, Metropolitan District Commien (“the MDC” or “Defendant”) violated her
rights when it terminated her employment after glas injured and had difficulty returning to
work. The MDC subsequently removed the cagiitoCourt, and Ms. Carman-Nurse amended
her Complaint, alleging violations of Conneatis Workers’ Compengn statutes, Conn. Gen.
Stat. § 31-290a, the Family Medidaave Act (“FMLA), 29 U.S.C. 2618t seq, and the
Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 121@t1 seq.

Currently pending before the Court are sal/eotions: Defendant’s motion to amend its
answer, ECF No. 22; Defendant’s motion to desrCount |, ECF No. 23; Defendant’s motion
for summary judgment on all counts, ECF No. &t Defendant’s motion to strike portions of
Plaintiff's response, ECF No. 48.

For the reasons stated below, the motion to ame@G&RANTED. The motion to strike is
DENIED, the motion to dismiss BENIED as moot and the motion for summary judgment is

GRANTED as to the FMLA and ADA claims. Becaube dismissal of these claims deprives
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the Court of subject matter jgdiction, the Connecticut Workers’ Compensation statute claim,
the sole remaining claim, and this caserareanded to the Connecticut Superior Court.
l. FACTUAL AND PROC EDURAL BACKGROUND

Ms. Carman-Nurse is a Connecticut restdend former employee of the MDC. Am.
Compl. 11 2, 31, ECF No. 17. The MDC is a nonprmofinicipal corporation that employs more
than 75 employees and provides water, searet,waste collection services to a number of
municipalities throughout Connectic@eeAnswer 1 3-5, ECF No. 19.

A. Factual Background

Ms. Carman-Nurse first began workingaameter installer for the MDC in 1994. Def.
56(a)(1) Stmt. § 1, ECF No. 38; Carman-Nurse.2¢ 34:10-16, Shea Aff., Ex. A, ECF No. 39-
1. MDC fired Ms. Carman-Nurse, however, oavember 3, 1997, after she allegedly lied to her
supervisorsSeeArb. Award, Shea Aff., Ex. S, ECRo. 39-19. After arbitration, MDC
reinstated Ms. Carman-Nurseher position on January 18, 20@&e idUpon her
reinstatement, Ms. Carman-Nurse returned akerk in the meter department and MDC
subsequently hired her as a customer serepeesentative in 2010. D&6(a)(1) Stmt. | 6;
Carman-Nurse Dep. at 38:11-15.

1. Job Requirements for Customer Serice Representative Position
As a customer service representative, @sman-Nurse had to “respond]] to telephone

inquiries and complaints by customers,” “mainfhand integrate[] wateand sewer records and
documents,” and “type[] . . . correspondence, index cards, information on forms, reports, and
statistics,” and operate a cpater. Analysis of Physical Re Shea Aff., Ex. Q, ECF No. 39-17.

The position reportedly required extensive tioperating a computer, as well as occasional

lifting, turning, twisting, reaching over-head, standing and stoopiing.



In practice, Ms. Carman-Nurséaimed to receive approximately one hundred and thirty
calls per day from customers. Carman-NWe@. at 75:16-25. Most dhese calls involved
billing inquiries, which requiredetrieving and submitting data from the computer database after
speaking with the customer through a head&st.idat 77:2-24. After edccall, Ms. Carman-
Nurse prepared either a complaint or a log Iputting “a few words” into the computer related
to each customer’s inquirid. at 75:16-25. These tas required Ms. Carman-Nurse to use both
of her hands, a consistent requirenfemtn 2012 to her termination in early 2016. at 77:23-
78:19, 83:1.

2. Ms. Carman-Nurse’s Injury and Treatment

At some point during her employment, M&rman-Nurse developed numbness, tingling
and pain in her left hand and wriktaving her hand partially impaire8eeAshmead Treatment
Note, PIl. Ex. 7 (documenting visit with physician April 1, 2016). She experienced constant
numbness and a sense of tightness in her fingers ksg of feeling in fouof her five fingers.
Ashmead Treatment Note at 1, ECF No. 46dat(menting visit with physician on January 20,
2015). Her hand appeared to hewen with light contactd.

According to Ms. Carman-Nurse, shevdmped carpal tunnel syndrome from the
consistent use of her hands, while usirogrputer as a clerk and customer service
representative, along with her prews work as a meter install&€Carman-Nurse Dep. at 86:4-25.
Shortly after she switched to the customer service represenpatition in 2010, Ms. Carman-
Nurse brought in a chair to accommodate the symptoms and requested a new keyboard from her
supervisor, Kimberly Haynes. Caam-Nurse Dep. at 90:2-91:12.

On December 3, 2014, Ms. Carman-Nurse fédeirst Report of Injury with MDC to

describe an injury sustained to her left hand t initiate her claim for workers’ compensation



benefits. Def. SMF | &eekFillion Dep. at 45:12-20, PI. Me. In Opp., Ex. 6, ECF No. 46-6.
The First Report of Injury noted that Ms. CamaNurse’s injury stemmed from the repetitive
and hand-intensive tasks required of Ms. Carmarsélas a customer service representative.
Def. 56(a)(1) Stmt. § 8.

Ms. Carman-Nurse then began her meait at Concentra Medical Cenfeos December
5, 2014, and the facility released lo@ the same day with restrictions on the use of her left hand.
SeeConcentra Records, Pl. Mem. in Opp., Ex.BGF No. 46-10. At her initial visit with
Concentra, the treating staffaginosed Ms. Carman-Nurse’s left hand injury as “tenosynovitis”
and recommended physical therapy treatme@ioaicentra from December 10, 2014, to January
8, 2015.SeeConcentra Records, Pl. Mem. In. Opp., Ex. 10.

After Concentra, two additional doctorsagnosed Ms. Carman-Nurse’s condition as
carpal tunnel syndrome. Initially, on Januér\2015, Dr. John Mara evaluated Ms. Carman-
Nurse and suggested surgical decompression, bettausplint she had been using appeared to
be ineffectual. Mara Medical Report, Shea. Alfx. L, ECF No. 39-12. Ms. Carman-Nurse then
began treatment with Dr. Duffield Ashmead January 20, 2015. Ashmead Report of Jan. 20,
2015, Pl. MSJ Mem. In Opp., Ex. 14, ECF No. 4641dtter to Dr. Ashmead, Pl. MSJ Mem. In.
Opp., Ex. 13, ECF No. 46-13. Dr. Ashmeaslbalecommended a left carpal tunnel
decompression, which he performed on MarchO4,5. Def. 56(a)(1) Stmt. § 16. Several months
later, Ms. Carman-Nurse had thumb surgenjgsemed by Dr. Ashmead. Def. 56(a)(1) Stmt.

17; Ashmead Dep., Def. 56(a)(1)n8t, Ex. D, ECF No. 39-4.

1 According to Cynthia Fillion, the MDC’s Risk Sére Analyst, an injured worker is required to
seek treatment from Concentoa work-related injuries unlesbey receive authorization to
change medical providers. Fillion Dep. at 23:2-16 and 26:2-17, Pl.’'s Mem. In Opp., EX. 6.
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Both of these surgeries left Ms. Carman-Nulsabled for several months. Def. 56(a)(1)
Stmt. 9 16-17. Additionally, Ms. Carman-Nurse rarad out of work for two further months,
after she was scalded by hot coffee. Def. 56(a)(1) Stmt.  18.

3. Ms. Carman-Nurse’s Leave

On December 29, 2014, MDC placed Ms. Carman-Nurse on I8aeE-mail from
Robert Zaik to Cynthia Tower (“Zaik Ema)l’Pl.’s Mem. In Opp., Ex. 12, ECF No. 46-12
(“Upon directive, | havenet with Christina to inform her thecause we are concerned with the
possibility of her aggravating the situation, are allowing her to go home under Workers Comp

).

Robert Zaik, MDC’s Manager of Labor R&ons, stated that Ms. Carman-Nurse
originally did not intend to take time off. H®ted, however, that “we weren't going to allow her
to work with a brace on and to attend physibatapy during our working hours.” Zaik Dep. at
66:2-4. Zaik indicated that Ms. Carman Nurse ¢fae would not be allowed to work so long as
these circumstances existed. Zaik Dep. a2%5%56:4. Ms. Carman-Nurse ceased working on
December 30, 2014, as a result, despite havingneduto work at MDC with accommodations
after her December 5, 2014, Concentra v&#eAshmead Questionnair8hea Aff., Ex. K, ECF
No. 39-11; Fillion Dep. at 55:156:8, Pl. Mem. In Opp., EX. 6.

MDC expected Ms. Carman-Nurse to exhiides sick leave andhen, “when she runs

out of sick leave,” “receive onlthe [workers’ compensationjagtitory payment.” Zaik Email.

Carman-Nurse never requested FMLA leabet MDC began tracking her leave under FMLA

2 Ms. Carman-Nurse never requested FMLA eslated to her hand. Carman-Nurse Dep. at
59:8-11. Between 2011 and December 8, 2014, however, she had made approximately twelve
FMLA requests for other purposes. Def. 56(a)(1) Stmt. $4e-MLA Req.’s & Confirmation
Letters, Zaik Aff., Ex. F, ECF No. 40-6. Thaost recent period was in December 2014, when
she requested occasional FMLA leave — no more than one day per week for a seven month
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on December 29, 2014. Zaik Aff. I 24. On December 29, 2014, Mr. Zaik, sent an email to Erin
Ryan, MDC'’s Director of Human Resources. Zaik Email, Pl. Mem. In Opp., Ex. 12, ECF No 46-
12; Zaik Dep. 23:20-22 and 60:16-18, Pl. MémOpp., Ex. 11, ECF No. 46-11. In the emaill,

Zaik stated that, “[u]pon directive,” he had infied Ms. Carman-Nurse that due to the concern

of aggravating her injury, her wiloabsences would be trackezhcurrently as FMLA leave with

her sick leave and Workers’ CompensationkZmail, Pl.’'s Mem. In Opp., Ex. 12.

MDC did not provide any written notice to MSarman-Nurse that her leave would be
tracked as both workers’ compensation and thé&A&Mbut Mr. Zaik alleges that he spoke to Ms.
Carman-Nurse about the FMLA tracl. Zaik Dep. at 69:6-9. He stat that, at the time, he did
not consider Ms. Carman-Nurse’s injury todserious medical condition that would qualify her
for FMLA leave® Id. at 75:16-19. However, although he “did iaterpret it as a serious medical
condition,” he tracked Ms. Carmardi$e’s under the FMLA because he said it was his “effort to
stem off this prior experience that Wwad with long-term absences with hdd’ at 76:1-5.

Ms. Carman-Nurse’s treating phgisins continually sustained her work restrictions. In
November 2015, for example, Dr. Ashmead stébedl Ms. Carman-Nurse should be kept on
modified duty and not be able to lifiush, or pull more than five pounds. Nov. 24, 2015
Ashmead Report, Shea Aff., EX. R, ECF No.1#3-He also found that she should not do “hand
intensive/repetitive” workld.

MDC then referred Ms. Carman-Nurse tplgysician they had rateed. Caputo Report,

Zaik Aff., Ex. B, ECF No. 4@. At that appointment, Ms. @aan-Nurse stated that she

period — to care for her mother, whad been diagnosed with demenilih; see alsdCarman-
Nurse Dep. at 57:1-17.

3 MDC no longer contests whether Plaintiffenclition qualifies as a serious health condition.
Def. MSJ Br. at 25.



experienced “burning, painful discomfort” follomg her recent surgery atitht therapy had not
provided reliefld. at 1. Dr. Caputo informed MDC thgt]urrent work capacity would be no
lift[ing], push[ing], or pulling or repective use [in the] left handd. at 2. Furthermore, he noted
that “[tlhe resumption of full time, full duty egmloyment would depend on residual relief on the
current symptoms which at this time are qbit¢hersome. . . . Unfortunately, | cannot provide
an exact time frame for full duty release relativéhie as sometimes this could be a permanent
problem limiting her ability to do full duty work permanentiyd:

On December 22, 2015, Dr. Ashmead examined Ms. Carman-Nurse again. He again
concluded that she was unable to return tesential functions of her job as he understood
them. Ashmead Dep. 63:11-16, Shea Aff., Ex. D, ECF No. 39-4. In his treatment notes, Dr.
Ashmead wrote that Ms. Carman-Nurse “reép@rofound difficultyusing or engaging the
thumb, even gently trying to move it is repofyedery painful.” Ashmead Treatment Note, Shea
Aff. Ex. I, ECF No. 32. He left “[e]xisng light duty restrictions” in effectd.

4. Attempts to Return to Work

Following her surgery in July 2015, Ms. Carmanrde attempted to return to work. She
“would go to the doctor” and then return t@ tMDC offices to see MiZaik and, handing him
the doctor’s note, Ms. Carman-Nurse said “ Bolthdfre’s anything | can do at work, to go back
to work, | would do it.” Carman-Nurse Dep. &16t14-25. She claimed that “each time he would
say, ‘It's okay, Chris, you waiintil you [are] a hundred percentlt. at 106:24-25.

On January 11, 2016, MDC created a “LBss,” which documents the cost of
employees’ injuries and relevambrkers’ compensation benefiSeeLoss Run, Pl. Mem., EX.
23, ECF No. 46-23. Ms. Carman-Nurse had the higtwstrelated to hdyenefits, a total of

$82,5821d. see alsdeposition of Cynthia Fillion a01:15-102:2, Pl. Suppl. Resp., Ex. A,



ECF No. 62-1At some point, someone circled the indemnity figure for Ms. Carman-Nurse—
which was $36,910—and wrote on the back of the document “60 Day Notice? Hearing this
week.”1d.

In a letter dated the same day, January 11, 206.6Zaik notified Ms. Carman-Nurse of
a hearing scheduled for January 15, 2016, to relimvwemployment status under the terms of
her Collective Bargaining Agreement. Def. 56(a)(1) Stmt. %5&&;alsd_etter from Robert Zaik
to Christina Carman-Nurse (Jan. 11, 2016), kfé&Ex. F, ECF No. 40-6. MDC notified Ms.
Carman-Nurse that “a physician retained by[MBC] has determined that you are unable to
return to work in any capacity.” The letteatdd that she would be terminated unless the
company received a “report form you whichtle District’s opinion, [that] unconditionally
confirms that you will be able to return to warkyour present position within sixty (60) days of
the date of the hearingld.

On January 15, 2016, MDC held a hearidgeCarman-Nurse Dep. at 113:3-7. She did
not bring any documents to the meeting, bat dia bring a card dateng an appointment
scheduled for three days latkt. Ms. Carman-Nurse “believed stwould be able to get a report
from him stating that she could return to warithin the required time period.” Zaik Aff. § 14.

On January 18, 2016, Dr. Ashmead signednansary note stating that Ms. Carmen-
Nurse had been evaluated and could returedalar duty, with no restrictions, beginning on
January 20, 2016. Ashmead Treatment NStea Aff. Ex. H, ECF No. 39-8.

Dr. Ashmead also prepared a longer repattirgg that “Christina has indicated that she
has been given an ultimatum by her employer: sagility or she will be terminated. She would
like to give it a try. Accordinglghe is to call or return shoutliestions or problems arise prior

to further follow-up for a progress report, 2/18shmead Treatment Note, Shea Aff. Ex. J, ECF



No. 33. Dr. Ashmead, however, stated that “[i]e thterim effective 1/2@he is released to
regular duty as detailed separatelgl”

Ms. Carman-Nurse provided the summaryenot Robert Zaik on January 19, 2016. Zaik
Aff.  16. He understood the note to mean “that abuld return to worlvithin the required time
period.”1d.

In a letter dated January 21, 2008ristopher Stone, an att@ynfor MDC, wrote to Dr.
Ashmead regarding Ms. Carman-Nurse’s clawstjng his prior opiniontad that of Dr. Caputo,
and stating that MDC had received “a copynfunsigned report frogou indicating that you
had evaluated Ms. Carman-Nurse on January 18, 2016, and that as of January 20, 2016 she could
return to regular duty with no restriction&eeletter from ChristopheBtone, Assistant MDC
Counsel, to Duffield Ashmead, M.D., Stone AfEx. A, ECF No 41-1. MrStone requested that
Dr. Ashmead “share with us the changeincumstances and/or facts” supporting his new
conclusion, especially as “[h]ertugn to regular duty without resttions will be based solely on
your January, 2016 opinion and tlaets supporting this opinionld.

Ms. Carman-Nurse then “hand-delivered”. Bshmead’s longer medical report, dated
January 18, 2016, to Robert Zaik. Zaik Aff. I 19.

5. Termination

On January 28, 2016, MDC sent a letteM® Carman-Nurse terminating her
employment. Letter from Robert Zaik to @&tina Carman-Nurse, ECF No. 46-3. The letter
summarized the various doctor reports that had been submitted. It stated that, although Ms.
Carman-Nurse’s treating physiciaad cleared her to work, “thieport clearly states that your
potential return to regular duty has nothingltowith your medical condition, which remained

unchanged from the earlier referenced repdéwash from your doctor and the independent



examiner.”ld. MDC therefore concluded that “yoemployment relationship is being
terminated” for failure to provide proper medical clearaiate.

This lawsuit followed.

B. Procedural History

Plaintiff's initial Complaint, filed in sta& court, included threeounts: Count | alleged
retaliation and wrongful tenination in violation of Conn. Ge Stat. § 31-290a; Count Il alleged
interference in violation ahe Family Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”), 29 U.S.C. § 261,seq
and Count IIl alleged retalian in violation of the FMLASeeCompl., ECF No. 1-1.

MDC removed the case from state coumtpoking this Court’s federal question
jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331. NoticeRg#moval at 2, ECF No. 1. Ms. Carman-Nurse
then filed an Amended Complaidm. Compl. ECF No. 17. The Amended Complaint renewed
Ms. Carman-Nurse’s allegation$retaliation and wrongful tenimation in violation of Conn.
Gen. Stat. 8 31-290a, and interfezerand retaliation in violain of the Family Medical Leave
Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2612t seqlt also added a fourth count, alag a violation of the Americans
with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12104t seq.

On April 6, 2017, MDC filed its Answer. Ansaw, ECF No. 19. Six months later, in
October 2017, MDC moved for leave to file Amended Answer, arguingdhthe Court did not
possess subject matter jurisdiction over CountthefAmended Complaint. Mot. for Leave to
File Am. Answer, ECF No. 22.

On the same day, MDC also filed a pariadtion to Dismiss Count | of the Amended
Complaint. Def. Mot. to Dismiss, ECF No. 23algued that Count | “alleges solely that the
[MDC] failed to provide the @intiff suitable work,” a clan for which Conn. Gen. Stat § 31-

313, rather Conn. Gen. Stat.§ 31029and that the claim therefore must proceed before
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Connecticut’'s Workers’ Compensation CommissidnMs. Carman-Nurse opposed the motion
to dismiss arguing that she had properly pleadedadiation claim and that the Court maintained
subject matter jurisdiction. Pl. Obj., ECF No. 25.

Before the Court ruled on the motion temiss, discovery closed and MDC moved for
summary judgment on all countee generallipef. Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. 36; Def. Mem.
of Law in Support (“Def. MSJ Br.”), ECF No.73MDC argues that Ms. Carman-Nurse failed to
state gorimafaciecase for each of the discrimination aethliation claims and that she was
unable to return to work. MDC therefore argtiest, even had Ms. Carman-Nurse statpdraa
faciecase, it had a legitimate, non-retaliatoggson for terminating her employment.

Ms. Carman-Nurse opposes the motionsiammary judgment. She argues that MDC
“consistently ignores the virtual mountain ofiisking-gun’ evidence that unlawfully retaliated
against Plaintiff . . . .” Pl. MSJ Resp. Br.AtECF No. 46. She also claims that there are
continued issues of material faetith respect to each and evergelent of every claim at issue”
which would be “sufficient for the causesatftion to be properly submitted to a jurid:

Finally, MDC moved to strike passages frbta. Carman-Nurse’s brief. Def. Mot. to
Strike, ECF No. 48. MDC argues thhe plaintiff had cited to a draft letter that MDC employees
had sent to legal counsel for revidd. at 1. This letter, MDC claims, is protected by attorney-
client privilege and was disclosed acciddptaDC argues that, because MDC had attempted
to claw back the letter, Ms. Caam-Nurse had to seek a coutimg before citing the letter and
therefore any reference shoulddigcken from her brieid. at 6.

Ms. Carman-Nurse objects taetimotion to strike on two groundSeePl. Obj., ECF No.

52. First, she argues that the lettenot privileged at all. ®®nd, and alternatively, she argues

11



that MDC has waived the privilege by failingdbject to the letter’'s use, until after she had
relied on it in one deposition and dliéo raise it in a second deposition.
1. Standard of Review

A. Motion to Amend Pleadings

A party may amend its pleading only with the opposing party's written consent or the
court's leave” after the period for amendment as of right has expaeRFCiv. P 15(a)(2)
“The court should freely give &e when justice so requiresd. Leave might be denied on
grounds of “undue delay, bad faith or dilatorytime on the part of the movant, repeated failure
to cure deficiencies by amendments previoadlgwed, undue prejudice to the opposing party
by virtue of allowance of the amendment, futility of amendment, 8tdlér v. Colangelp221
F.R.D. 316, 317 (D. Conn. 2004) (quotiRgman v. Davis371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962)).

B. Motion to Strike

Rule 12(f) of the Federal Rules of Civil Prdcee allows parties to move to strike “from
a pleading an insufficient defense or any redahdenmaterial, impertinent, or scandalous
matter.” Rule 12(f), however, only appliespgi@adings, and not to briefing in support or
opposition to a motiorO'Brien v. WisniewskiNo. 3:10-CV-120 CSH2012 WL 1118076, at *3
(D. Conn. Apr. 3, 2012) (“Similarly, ‘a reply memamdum is not a pleading.’ . . . Thus, neither
the assertions in plaintiff's counsel's reply bnef; the exhibits attached thereto, are “pleadings”
from which the Court might properly &td material under Rule 12(f)”) (quotindarshall v.
Webster Banki\.A., No. 3:10—cv-908 (JCH), 2004L 219693, at * 12 (D. Conn. Jan. 21,
2011));see alsdNright & Miller, 5C Fed. Prac. & ProcCiv. § 1380 (3d ed.) (“Rule 12(f)
motions only may be directed towards pleadiagslefined by Rule 7(a); thus motions,

affidavits, briefs, and other documents outsidthefpleadings are not self to Rule 12(f).”).
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Additionally, a motion to strike “is impropevith respect to summary judgmeniftKinney v.
DzurendaNo. 3:10-cv-880 AVC, 2013 WL 13468, at *1 (D. Conn. Mar. 27, 2013ge also
Ferraresso v. Town of Granb§46 F. Supp. 2d 296, 301 (D. Conn. 2009) (“Because the Court
may consider only admissible evidence inrrglon summary judgment, it sees no need to
“strike” any portions of Ferraresso's submissions.”).

C. Motion to Dismiss

In evaluating a motion under Rule 12(b)(1) for lack of subject maitisdiction, a court
“must accept as true all materiactual allegations in the complaiout need not draw inferences
favorable to the partgisserting jurisdiction.Shipping Fin. Servs. Corp. v. Drakd10 F.3d 129,
131 (2d Cir. 1998). The plaintiff bears the burdéshowing that subject matter jurisdiction is
proper based on facts exiggiat the time he or she filed the compla8telsa v. City Univ. of
New York 76 F.3d 37, 40 (2d Cir. 1996) (citations omitted).

D. Motion for Summary Judgment

In a motion for summary judgment, the burd@eon the moving partio establish that no
genuine issues of materfalct remain in dispute, and thais thus “entitled to judgment as a
matter of law.” ED. R.Civ. P. 56(a). A fact is “material” it “might affect the outcome of the
suit under the governing law” andacfual issue is “genuine” if “@asonable jurgould return a
verdict for the nonmoving party” based onAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&t77 U.S. 242, 248
(1986).

In reviewing the record, a court must “consttiie evidence in the light most favorable to
the non-moving party and draw all reaable inferences in its favoiGary Friedrich Enters.,
L.L.C. v. Marvel Characters, Inc716 F.3d 302, 312 (2d Cir. 2013) (citations omitted). If there

is any evidence in the record from which a reabtafactual inference could be drawn in favor
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of the opposing party on the issue on which sumguatgment is sought, summary judgment is
inappropriate See Security Insurance Co. of Hartfe. Old Dominion Freight Line Inc391

F.3d 77, 83 (2d Cir. 2004%nderson477 U.S. at 250 (summamydgment is proper only when
“there can be but one reasonablaatasion as to the verdict”).

In determining whether summary judgmen&pgropriate, a court must consider only
admissible evidenc&ee Spiegel v. Schulmaie®4 F.3d 72, 81 (2d Cir. 2010) (“It is well
established that in determinitige appropriateness of a gransafnmary judgment, [the court] .
.. may rely only on admissible evidence”) (tta and internal quotation marks omitted§pk
R.Civ. P. 56(e).

II. DISCUSSION

The Court must rule on the following motior§s) MDC’s motion to amend its Answer to
add an additional defense; (2) MDC’s motiordiemiss Count | of the Amended Complaint; (3)
MDC'’s motion for summary judgment on all courdsd (4) MDC’s motion tetrike a portion of
the Plaintiff's response brief. TheoQrt addresses each motion in turn.

A. Procedural Motions

Two pending motions must be resolved bettiee Court turns to the motion to dismiss
and the motion for summary judgment. FIMDC has moved to amend its Answer. Second, it
has moved to strike passages from Ms. Carman-Nurse’s memorandum in opposition to summary
judgment.

1. Motion to Amend Answer

MDC moves to amend its Answer and adieéense based on lack of subject-matter
jurisdiction. Here, Ms. Carman-Nurbas not opposed leave to amefdeD. Conn. L. R.

7(a)(2) (“Failure to submit a memorandunoipposition to a motion may be deemed sufficient

cause to grant the motion, except where the pigagrovide sufficient grounds to deny the
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motion.”); Lopez v. City of New YqrRO1 F. Supp. 684, 686 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (“The motion for
leave to amend is unopposed and therejonated and the proposed pleading deemed
interposed.”).

The motion to amend therefore is grantaa the case will proceed with the Amended
Answer.

2. Motion to Strike

MDC also moves to strike a paragraph &mtnote from Ms. Carman-Nurses response
brief, arguing that the sectioaferences a document protecbgdattorney-client privilege and
that defense counsel inadvertently discloseddincument to opposing counsel during discovery.
SeeMot. to Strike at 1. Ms. Carmaurse argues that the document is not privileged and, even
if it were, MDC has waived privilege.

The admissibility of evidence, however, daaddressed through the summary judgment
briefing, not in separate motion practiSze, e.gFerraressg 646 F. Supp. 2d at 301 (“If a
party wishes to argue that assarted material fact is not supged by the evidence, that party
may do so in its summary judgment briefing.”EDFR. Civ. P. 56 advisory committee’s note
(“The burden is on the proponent to show thatrtiaterial is admissible as presented or to
explain the admissible form that is anticipat€dere is no need to make a separate motion to
strike.”).

MDC had an opportunity to address Ms. CamNurse’s reliance on the document in its
reply brief, especially considering th@@t granted leave tile excess pageSeeOrder, ECF
No. 51. It chose not to do so, only noting the tonh&nd stating it had filed a motion to strike.

Def. MSJ Rep. at 5.
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The motion to strike therefore is dented.

B. Motion to Dismiss Count | of the Amended Complaint

After discovery had begun, MDmoved to dismiss Count | of the Amended Complaint
for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction undexd=R.Civ. P. 12(b)(1). In Count I, Ms. Carman-
Nurse alleges that MDC firduker “because she suffered ariwwoelated injury, sought and
received benefits under the workers’ compensatiatutgs, and despite the fact that Plaintiff was
ready, willing, and able to return to work ...”. Am. Compl. at 5 (citing Conn. Gen. Stat. § 31-
290a).

MDC argues that Ms. Carman-Nurse “alleges sdledy the District fAded to provide the
plaintiff suitable work” in violation ofConn. Gen. Stat. § 31-313.” Section 31-313 claims,
however, require exhaustion before therkéos Compensation Commission. MDC argues,
therefore, that because Ms. Carman-Nurdendt exhaust the available remedies under 8§ 31-
313, the Court must grant their motion to dism&seDef. Mem. in Supp. of Mot., ECF No. 24.

In response, Ms. Carman-Negrasserts that she isot attempting to convert a claim
under [8 31-313] into a 8§ 31-290a retaliation claim.” Pl. Mem. in Opp. to Def.’s Mot. 8, ECF
No. 25-1. Rather, Ms. Carman-Nurse argues tloain€l is brought appropriately as a retaliation
claim under 8§ 31-2904d. Ms. Carman-Nurse points to hateged notification of her work
injury to MDC, initiating a workers’ compensation claim, seeking and receiving medical
treatment, seeking available light duty woaikd being terminated up@noviding the District

with a full-duty medical releaséd.

4 Because no part of this decision rests on the sxibility of the letterthe Court need not and
does not decide that issue.
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Because, as discussed further below, the (G@g decided to dismiss all federal claims
in this lawsuit, and remands the case to ComtigicEuperior Court, #nmotion to dismiss for
lack of subject-matter jurisdiction, dueddcstate law issue is denied as moot.

E. Motion for Summary Judgment

MDC has moved for summary judgment on all couSee generallipef. Mot. for
Summ. J., ECF No. 36; Def. MSJ Mem. MD@uaes that summary judgment is warranted on
the FMLA and Workers’ Compensation retéba claims (Counts | and 1ll) because Ms.
Carman-Nurse has failed to statprama faciecase of retaliation iboth counts and MDC has
provided a legitimate, non-retaltay reason for terminating her eloyment. It also argues that
it was permitted to count Ms. Carman-Nurse’s &etwice, and that argrror in notice under the
FMLA would be harmless. Finally, with resgt to the ADA claim, MDC argues that Ms.
Carman-Nurse was not disabled, thatfslled to request a asonable accommodatiand that
she could not perform the essahtunctions of heposition, with or without a reasonable
accommodation.

Because the resolution of the federal clamasy result in the Court lacking subject-
matter jurisdiction over this lawsuit, the Coaddresses the FMLA and ADA claims first. A
review of these claims result in their dismisster FMLA interferencend retaliation claims
fail for essentially the same reason: her mediatisused absence from work for over a year far
exceeded any leave required under FMLA. MDC dadt have interfered with her right to
leave under the FMLA becausesttecord evidence makes clear that Ms. Carman-Nurse could
not have structured her leave differently githe extent of her medical condition. MDC also
could not have retaliated agat Ms. Carman-Nurse under the EMby terminating her because

her right to return to her job undine FMLA had dbng since expired.
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As to Ms. Carman-Nurse’s ADA claim, besauthe record lacks evidence of Ms.
Carman-Nurse’s ability to do the essential fumatsi of the job, she has failed to meet her burden
to demonstrate what reasonable accommodatMDC could have provided under the ADA.
This is fatal to her ADA claim.

Having dismissed, as discussed below, lbederal claims, the Court no longer has
subject-matter jurisdiction over Ms. CarmansBe’s Connecticut’s Workers’ Compensation
statute claim and therefore, remandsdage to the ConnecticBuperior Court.

1. The FMLA Claims

The Family Medical Leave Act, or FMLAwas enacted to remedy discrimination
against workers who also had significant family responsibiliti®srafin v. ConnecticuNo.
3:98-cv-398 (CFD), 2005 WL 578321, at *4.(Donn. Mar. 9, 2005). The FMLA “entitle[s]
employees to take reasonable leave for medézmons, for the birth or adoption of a child, and
for the care of a child, spousw®,parent who has a seriousatth condition.” 29 U.S.C.A. §
2601(b)(1). “The FMLA's central provision guarantedigible employees 1®&eeks of leave in a
1-year period following certain events: a disabplirealth problem; a family member's serious
illness; or the arrival of a new son or daught&agsdale v. Wolverine World Wide, In835
U.S. 81, 86 (2002). At the end oighwelve-week period, an empleg has the right to return to
her position if she is abke perform the essentifilnctions of the positiorSista v. CDC Ixis N.
Am., Inc, 445 F.3d 161, 174 (2d Cir. 2006).

Along with its substantive protections, the FMlafso provided plaintiffs with a private
right of action to enforce their rightisl. Ms. Carman-Nurse seeks relief under FMLA based on

two theories: interference and retaliation.
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A. FMLA Interference Claim

“To succeed on a claim of FMLA interfereneeplaintiff must establish that the
defendant denied or otherwise interfered withenefit to which she was entitled under the
FMLA.” Graziadio v. Culinary Inst. of Am817 F.3d 415, 424 (2d Cir. 2016) (citing 29 U.S.C. §
2615 (a)(1)). Unlike in FMLA retaliation claimsee infraSection IV.C., the “employer’s
subjective intent is not an issuand “the issue is simply whether the employer provided the
employee with the entitlements set forth ie #MLA—for example, a twelve-week period of
leave or reinstatement following a medical lea¥®¥dnamaker v. Town of Westport Bd. of Educ
11 F. Supp. 3d 51, 69 (D. Conn. 2014).

In order to defeat a motion for summauggment on a FMLA interference claim, “a
plaintiff must establish: (1that she is an eligible engylee under the FMLA; (2) that the
defendant is an employer as defined by the FMi{3) that she was entitled to take leave under
the FMLA; (4) that she gave notice to the defendditer intention to take leave; and (5) that
she was denied benefits to winishe was entitled under the FMLAGtaziadio,817 F.3d at 424.

Ms. Carman-Nurse claims that MDC irfexred with her rigks under the FMLA by
“requir[ing] her to take moréMLA leave than necessary” andafifing] to restore her to the
position of employment she helal, an equivalent position, wheich leave expired[.]” Am.
Compl. at 7. MDC argues that Ms. iGsn-Nurse failed to establistpama faciecase of
interference “absent evidence tlsae was denied any rights to which she was entitled to under

the FMLA.” Def. MSJ Mem. at 24. The Court agrees.
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I. Requirements for FMLA Interference Claims

The first three requiremendse undisputed. First, an employee is covered under the
FMLA if she worked “a total of at least X2onths by the employer on the date on which any
FMLA leave is to commence.” 29 C.F.R. § 825.102.

Second, the FMLA defines covered employersaay person engaged aommerce or in
any industry or activity affecting commeregho employs 50 or more employees for each
working day during each of 20 arore calendar workweeks iretleurrent or preceding calendar
year.” 29 C.F.R. § 825.104. MDC employs 75 peogkeAnswer 11 3-5, ECF No. 19.

Third, while Mr. Zaik originally did not belieasthat Ms. Carman-Nurse’s injury qualified
as a “serious medical injury” under the FMUWADC concedes it does. Def. MSJ Mem. at 25 n.
7 (“The plaintiff alleged thashe had a qualified medical conditiunder the FMLA. . . . and the
District does not dispute the fabt the plaintiff's injury to her left hand/wrist in December
2014 constituted a serious health conditiodeftned by the FMLA.”). Ms. Carman-Nurse
therefore is entitled to take leave.

MDC also does not explicitly challenge ®ther Ms. Carman-Nurse has demonstrated
that she meets the fourth requirement to proM@C notice of her intention to leave. It notes,
however, that Ms. Carman-Nurse only souglterimittent FMLA leave to care for her mother,
and that “plaintiff further testified that sthdid not request angave under the FMLA in
connection with the injury to Inéeft hand/wrist.” Def. MSJ Menat 25. But, a plaintiff is not
required to request FMLA leave specdily for notice to be sufficienCf. Coutard v. Mun.
Credit Union 848 F.3d 102, 111 (2d Cir. 2017) (“Rather, in the absence of a request for
additional information, an employee has provideffigant notice to his employer if that notice

indicates reasonably that tR&LA may apply.”). And, MDC f# it had been placed on notice
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that Ms. Carman-Nurse intended to take éthat might implicate FMLA, given that the
company chose to run her FMLA leave concatreith her workergompensation absencgee
Def. MSJ Mem. at 25. MDC also does not digpwhether her injuries would qualify as a
medical condition as defined by tRMLA. Def. MSJ Mem. at 25 n.7.

MDC instead focuses on the fifth requiremesateDef. Mem. at 24 (“[T]he plaintiff does
not come close to demonstrating a prima faese for a claim of FMLA interference here,
where she admits that she was never démedights to FMLA leave.”), raising several
arguments as to why it is entitled to summadgment. First, MDC claims to have properly
tracked Ms. Carman-Nurse'sdve concurrently with heedve for workers’ compensatidd. at
25 (citing Conn. Agencies Reg. § 31-51gqg-18 38 C.F.R. § 825.207(¢e)). Second, MDC argues
that it “did not have an obligation to restore teeher position at the timat her leave expired”
because “she was rendered totally disabled at that ticheat 26 (citingSarno v. Douglas
Elliman—-Gibbons & lvednc., 183 F.3d 155, 161 (2d Cir.1999)hird, and relatedly, MDC
argues that any failure in itetification procedures was harmless. Def. MSJ Rep. Br. at 11
(citing 29 C.F.R. § 825.301(e)).

In response, Ms. Carman-Nurse argues fleave counting ajnst an employee’s
FMLA allotment is conditioned upon the employer first meeting the notice requirements set out
in the FMLA.” Pl. MSJ Mem. at 28. She argues that no leave between December 2014 and
January 2016 could be properly counted as FNiave because she claims MDC failed to give
her proper notice under 29 C.F.R. § 825.300¢1)-inally, she argues that she provided
adequate notice that she coultura to work and, despite thigtice, MDC failed to reinstate

her.ld. at 29.
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As both parties appear to ackredge, the mere fact thattheave was characterized as
both workers’ compensation and FMLA did nodlaite Plaintiff's rightsunder either. But the
regulations presume that the leave be prgmbignated “in accordance with § 825.300(d)[.]”
29 C.F.R. 8 825.207(e). In order for MDC to haweperly cross-designated her leave, it was
required to “inform the employee of this desitioa at the time of designating the FMLA leave.”
29 C.F.R. § 825.300(d)(1). The designation must be in wrikth@ 825.300(d)(5).

Additionally, the “employer must notify thremployee of the amounf leave counted
against the employee's FMLA leave entitlemeldt.”8 825.300(d)(6). Thisotification can be
oral or writing, but “[i]fsuch notice is oral, it shall be canfied in writing, no later than the
following payday . . . .ld.

Mr. Zaik acknowledges that naritten notice was provided tds. Carman-Nurse. Zaik
Dep. at 69:6-9. There is nothingtime record suggesting tHdDC sent Ms. Carman-Nurse a
proper written designation, or informed her intiwmg how much of herdave entitlement would
be counted against her.

The governing regulations stateat “[f]ailure to follow the notice requirements set forth
in this section may constitute axterference with, restraint, denial of the exercise of an
employee's FMLA rights. An employer may lible for compensation and benefits lost by
reason of the violation, for other actual monetasges sustained asliaect result of the
violation, and for appropriate equitable or athadief, including employment, reinstatement,
promotion, or any other relief tailored ttee harm suffered.” 29 C.F.R. § 825.300(e).

As a result, if “there is a genuine issue otenial fact as to whether the notice violation
‘constituted an interference with, restraint, or déof the exercise of plaintiff's FMLA rights,’

for instance, whether the plaith would have taken unpaid FMLAeave had she been properly
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notified about the policy regard) restoration of tenurePDe Oliveira v. Cairo-Durham Cent.
Sch. Dist, 634 F. App'x 320, 322 (2d Cir. 2016)upting 29 C.F.R. § 825.300(e)) (internal
alterations omitted), then summary judgment would be inappropfieeeRengan v. FX Direct
Dealer, LLG No. 15-CV-4137, 2017 WL 3382074, at *a[EN.Y. Aug. 4, 2017) (“There are
genuine issues of materfalct about the nature and circumstas of the notices provided to the
plaintiff and whether those notices allowed phaintiff to make an informed decision to
structure her leave in a manner that would enlseresuccessful return to work.”). As further
discussed below, th&t not the case here.

. Harmless Error

MDC suggests that Ms. Carman-Nurse “waseai for the duration of the relevant period
due to a health condition and remained medicakyricted.” Def. MS. Rep. Br. at 11. It
therefore argues the failure to provide noticedsmless because “the employee's own serious
health condition prevented him or her from ratog to work during tht time period regardless
of the designation.ld. (quoting 29 C.F.R. § 825.301(e)).

In deciding whether MDC'’s actions were h&ss, it is useful to compare Ms. Carman-
Nurse’s claims with those Blackett v. Whole Foods Mkt. Grp., Inblo. 3:14-cv-01896 (JAM),
2017 WL 1138126 (D. Conn. Mar. 27, 2017)Blackettthe Court concluded that “a reasonable
jury could conclude that pldiff would have attempted to stture his leaves in order to
preserve his right to reinstatement.” 200/Z 1138126, at *7. The defendant, like here, argued
that the plaintiff was unable to return followitige conclusion of the federal-mandated leave and
therefore when it failed to provide propwtice, that error would be harmleks.But, the court
noted that the plaintiff might havahosen to manage his surgeaesl injuries differently or, at

the very least, a jury should determine “iflaeuld have been medically able to structure his
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leaves differently in order to avail himselflas FMLA rights notwithstanding his several severe
and unplanned medical condition&d” (citing Reid-Falcone v. Luzerne Cnty. Comm. College
2005 WL 1527792, at *5-6 (M.D. Pa. 2005)).

Unlike this case, however, the plaintiff in titase “might have attempted to return to
work earlier from his first leave, or he migidt have acquiesced in taking his second leave—a
forced leave—for lack of light duty work, and ist&ad that he was fit faluty had he known that
it would have exhausted his stated federal FMLA allotmentsId. at 8.

This record contains no such evidencefalet, on this record, Ms. Carman-Nurse had
consistent medical documentation keeping her out of work from the end of December 2014 until,
at least, the middle of December 20%8e, e.gAshmead Treatment Note, Shea Aff. Ex. |, ECF
No. 32 (noting that Ms. Carman-Nurse “repgatefound difficulty usingor engaging the thumb,
even gently trying to move it reportedly very painful”). As result, given the length of her
medically justified absence fromork during this time period ahe, no “reasonable jury could
conclude that plaintiff wuld have attempted to structure [hedves in order to preserve [her]
right to reinstatementBlackett 2017 WL 1138126, at *&ee also Wanamaketl F. Supp. 3d
at 69 (“[T]he issue is simply whether the eoy@r provided the employee with the entitlements
set forth in the FMLA—for example, a twelvesek period of leave or reinstatement following a
medical leave.”).

Defendant’s motion for summary judgment ifere is granted withespect to Count I
of the Amended Complaint.

1. FMLA Retaliation Claim

Ms. Carman-Nurse also claims that MDC lietad against her for exercising her rights

under the FMLA. MDC moves for summary judgnt, arguing that Ms. Carman-Nurse has
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failed to state @rima faciecase of retaliation and thisdDC has provided a legitimate, non-
retaliatory reason for termating her employmengeeDef. MSJ Br. at 27.

Claims for retaliation under the FMLAe&evaluated under the ivestablished burden-
shifting analysis first developed in the Title VII contégéePotenza v. City of New YQr&65
F.3d 165, 168 (2d Cir. 2004) (noting “thetaliation analyis pursuant ttcDonnell Douglas
[Corporation v. Greepd11 U.S. 792 (1973)] is applidab to retaliation claims).

First, the plaintiff bears thburden of establishingpima faciecase of retaliation.
Potenza365 F.3d at 168. For a claim of retaliatiorviolation of the FMLA, the plaintiff must
establish: “(1) [s]he exercisemjhts protected under the FMLA2) [she] was qualified for [her]
position; (3) [she] suffered an adverse employment action; and (4) the adverse employment
action occurred under circumstances giving tosan inference of retaliatory intentd.

Second, “[i]f the plaintiff makes out a primadie case, the defendant must demonstrate a
legitimate, non-discriminatory reas for its actions; if the defendadoes so, the plaintiff must
then show that defendant's praéfd explanation is pretextualGraziadiq 817 F.3d at 429.

a. Prima Facie Case under the FMLA

With respect to the FMLA claim, MDC argues that Ms. Carman-Nurse never filed for
FMLA leave for her hand, and therefore did natreise her rights, Def. MSJ Br. at 28, even
though MDC placed her on leave, and she was qualified for that leave. As a result, Ms. Carman-
Nurse exercised her FMLA rights under #at, whether she initially sought leav€f. Dighello
v. Thurston Fooddnc., 307 F. Supp. 3d 5, 16 (D. Conn. 2018Y]nder the FMLA, the

employer's duties are triggered when th@leyee provides enough information to put the

5|t also argues that she was not able togarfher job. This argument is addressed more fully
below.
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employer on notice that the employee mayrbeeed of FMLA leave.”) (quotinlambash v. St.
Bonaventure Uniy No. 99CV967, 2004 WL 2191566,*d10 (W.D.N.Y. Sept. 24, 2004)).
Because MDQerminated her following that leave, M3arman-Nurse has ebtshed that there
was an adverse actioviega,801 F.3d at 85 (noting termination as one paradigmatic adverse
employment action).

b. Causal Connection and Retaliatory Intent

The viability of Ms. Carman-Nge’s retaliation claim rests on whether there is a causal
connection between Ms. Carman-Be's termination and any poteadtretaliation or retaliatory
intent. MDC argues that plaintifoes not meet her burden with respto the retaliatory intent
or causal connection. It argues that—becauseddsnan-Nurse was fired months after her
FMLA leave expired—she cannot show temporal proki that would give rise to an inference
of retaliatory intent. DefBr. at 29. The Court agrees.

In order to state prima faciecase at summary judgment, aiptiff must demonstrate “a
causal connection existstineen the protected actiyibnd the adverse actiarg., that a
retaliatory motive played a part ihe adverse employment actioBistg 445 F.3d at 177
(denying leave to amend for claims involving EMand ADA retaliation)(internal citations
omitted). Ms. Carman-Nurse has not put enoughesdd in the record to establish a causal
connection.

One way of establishing a causal connection is by demonstrating temporal proximity.
See, e.gDonnelly v. Greenburgh Cent. Sch. Dist. No691 F.3d 134, 152 (2d Cir. 2012)
(reversing grant of summary judgment wherenilfihad demonstrated temporal proximity and
the evidence provided “a sufficiebasis to send the question oé tbchool district's retaliatory

intent to the jury to reach a final determination.”).
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Here, the protected activity was not follavelosely by discriminatory treatment. Ms.
Carman-Nurse went on FMLA leave on December 29, 2014. She was not terminated until over
one year later in January, 201l after her twelve weeks plermitted leave would have
expired.Seeletter from Robert Zaik to Christif@arman-Nurse (terminating employment on
January 28, 2016). Even if the Court were to cowrhfthe end of her leave, there would still be
an eight-month gap. Courts generally hamanid that such gaps do not establish caus&fiea.

e.g, Housel v. Rochester Inst. of Tedh F. Supp. 3d 294, 308 (W.D.N.Y. 2014) (noting “claims
of retaliation are routinely dismissed when ag &s three months elapse between the protected
activity and the alleged act oftadiation” and ctlecting cases)arrett v. Garden City Hotel,

Inc., No. 05-CV-0962 JFB AKT, 2007 WL 11748, at *21 (E.D.N.Y. Apr. 19, 2007)

(“[D]istrict courts in ths Circuit have consistently held trepassage of more than two months
between the protected activiyd the adverse employmentiac does not allow for an

inference of causation.”).

A large gap between the proted action and termination, evérsubstantial, may still
support an inference of retaliation, especialiere there is othezvidence ofetaliation.Dupee
v. Klaff's, Inc, 462 F. Supp. 2d 233, 240 (D. Conn. 2006).

The other potential evidence of discrimination hereas'libss run” that MDC had
completed shortly before firing Ms. Carman-NurSeeDeposition of Cynthia Fillion at 101:15-
102:2, Pl. Suppl. Resp., Ex. A, ECF No. 62ZFlhe handwriting on the loss run—noting the 60-
day hearing and ensuring that terminatiors iwaminent—suggests a relationship between Ms.
Carman-Nurse’s termination andrhieceipt of workers’ compensati benefits. In short, the cost
of her workers’ compensation benefits under state law arguably prompted her termination and

may provide evidence probative of retaliatory anin@fsDupree 462 F. Supp. 2d at 240
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(holding, in 8 31-290a case, that evidence tharamae rates increased for defendant as a result
of plaintiff's workers’ compensation claiprovided evidence aktaliatory motive).

Nevertheless, while perhaps probativéist. Carman-Nurse’s workers compensation
retaliation claim, the loss run t@ais not probative diier FMLA retaliation claim. By the time
the loss run data related to ttwsts of her workers’ comperniga benefits had been produced,
Ms. Carman-Nurse had completely exhausted her FMLA |&aeillion Dep 104:6-11
(testifying to producing this partitar loss run data because sha$wmasked to do these dates” by
human resources).

As a result, Ms. Carman-Nurse has “faitegpresent sufficient evidence from which a
reasonable jury could conclude that [MDQjnbenated [her] on account of [her] decision to
exercise [her] rights under the . . . FMLAUmmary judgment isppropriate on her FMLA
retaliation claimsSistg 445 F.3d at 177.

3. Count IV: ADA Discrimination

Ms. Carman-Nurse also claims that MD@laeted the Americans with Disabilities Act
(“ADA”). She pursues several septadheories. First, she clairdgscrimination because either
she is disabled within the maag of the ADA, or her employer peeived her to be disabled. PI.
MSJ Resp. Br. at 31-33. She argues that MDGl fiver on account of ifgerception of her as
disabled. Pl. MSJ Resp. Br. at 38. Her primary argument, however, is that MDC failed to give
her reasonable accommodations for her disalalityshould have engaged in an interactive
process. Pl. MSJ Resp. Br. at 35-37.

MDC has moved for summary judgment, arguing that Ms. Carman-Nurse has not

demonstrated she is disabled within theaming of the ADA, Def. MSJ Mem. at 32-33, has
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failed to request a reasonable accommodaitbm@t 35-36, and that she could not perform the
essential functions of her position, with or without reasonable accommoddtiah37.

As with the FMLA and workers’ gopensation claims addressed above, ADA
discrimination claims are subject teetburden-shifting scheme articulatedMoDonnell
Douglas See McMillian v. City of New Yqrk11 F.3d 120, 125 (2d Cir. 2013). A plaintiff may
demonstrate prima faciecase if she can show “by a preperahce of the evidence that: (1)
[her] employer is subject to the ADA; (2) [she]swdisabled within the meaning of the ADA; (3)
[she] was otherwise qualified to perform the esiséfunctions of [hdrjob, with or without
reasonable accommodation; and (4) [she] sufface@rse employment action because of [her]
disability.” 1d. (quotingSistg 445 F.3dat 169).

Ms. Carman-Nurse’s claim, as she plead her Amended Complaint, is primarily a
failure-to-accommodate clairBeeAm. Compl. T 33 (“Defendant sliriminated against Plaintiff
on account of her disabilities in violation of the Al#sofar as it failed entirely to engage in the
interactive process to determine whether Pltiotiuld perform the essential functions of her
position . . . .”);see alsd’l. Mem. at 35-37 (describindleged failure to accommodate).

In the Second Circuit,

A plaintiff makes out a prima facwase of disability discrimination
arising from a failure to accommodate by showing each of the
following: “(1) [P]laintiff is a person with a disability under the
meaning of the ADA; (2) an enmpler covered by the statute had
notice of his disability; (3) with reasonable accommodation,

plaintiff could perform the essentiainctions of the job at issue; and
(4) the employer has refused to make such accommodations.”

McBride v. BIC Consumer Prod. Mfg. €683 F.3d 92, 96-97 (2d Cir. 2009) (quot{iaves v.
Finch Pruyn & Co., Ing 457 F.3d 181, 184 (2d Cir.2006)).
For both failure-to-accommodate and adegesployment action &ims, the plaintiff

“bears the burdens of both production and persuass to the existence of some accommodation
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that would allow [the plaintiff] to perform the essential functions of [the plaintiff's]
employment."McMillan, 711 F.3d at 126 (quotingcBridge 583 F.3d at 97).

Ms. Carman-Nurse has failed to meet the @espe burdens on either her termination

theory or her failure-to-accommodate claim.
a. Disability under the ADA

In order to be disabled under the ADA, an uidizal must have “(A) a physical or mental
impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities of such individual; (B) a
record of such an impairment; or (C) being regarded as having such an impairment (as described
in paragraph (3)).” 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1). Mdjte activities “include but are not limited to,
caring for oneself, performing manual taséeeing, hearing, eating, slesg, walking, standing,
lifting, bending, speaking, breatty, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating,
and working.”ld. at § 12102(2).

Ms. Carman-Nurse points to working, aniaty alleged to be substantially limited by
her carpal tunnel. Def. 52(a)(1) Strfifi 62-63 (noting Plaintiff’'s tetimony that she was limited
in opening jars, horseback riding, and working wigdavy machinery). Working is listed as one
of the major life activities and Ms. Carman-Nuvsauld be disabled within the meaning of the
ADA, if she were unable to worlkCf. Biancamano v. Special Metals Carplo. 7:12-cv-1825
(GTS)(DEP), 2013 WL 4082721, 84 (N.D.N.Y. Aug. 13, 2013) ere, it is alleged that
plaintiff was forced to stop working as a resulhaf carpal tunnel and ulnaerve damage in his
left arm in August 2010. . . . Because workis a major life impairment under the ADA,
plaintiff's complaint alleges fastplausibly suggesting that hdfseus from an impairment that

satisfies the definition of disability.”).
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Therefore, a jury could certainly determinattMs. Carman-Nurse is limited in one or
more major life activity.

Second, in order to meet the definition, Msri@an-Nurse must show that she has either
a record of impairment or has been “regardeldaasng such an impairment . . ..” 42 U.S.C. §
12102(1). “An individual meets the requiremenf ‘being regarded as having such an
impairment’ if the individual estaishes that he or she has been subjected to an action prohibited
under this Act because of an actual or perceplgdical or mental impairment whether or not
the impairment limits or is perceived to ltma major life activity.” U.S.C. § 12102(1)(C).

In interpreting this provision, the Second Cirdwas held that a pldiff is “only required
to raise a genuine issoématerial fact about whether [tdefendants] regarded him as having a
mental or physical impairmentHilton v. Wright 673 F.3d 120, 129 (2d Cir. 2012). A plaintiff
is “not required to present edce of how or to what degréeey believed the impairment
affected him.”ld.

On this record, MDC perceived Ms. Carman-d&ias having a physical disability, that
is: they perceived her to be limitén her ability “to return to wi in any capacity.” Letter from

Robert Zaik to Christina Carman-NursarjJ11, 2016), Shea Aff. Ex. F, ECF No. 40-6;

® The Court notes that here, the parties’ argnits under Ms. Carman-Nurse’s FMLA, Workers’
Compensation, and the ADA claims appear ttidmn MDC argues tha¥ls. Carman-Nurse is
unable to perform her job functioasd return to work, but not paired in a major life activity.
CompareDef MSJ Mem. at 20 (“It cannot be serioudigputed that the Birict was unable to
return the plaintiff to her customer serviceigos, which required thashe perform the very
activities that cause her symptoms in the first place”) wlitht 33 (stating Plaintiff “has no
claim of any major life activity which has been substantially limited by the injury to her left
hand/wrist”). Ms. Carman-Nurse argues that\whs able to work, but yet still substantially
impaired in a major life activityCompare Pl. MSJ Resp. Br. at 2& {8 undisputed here that, on
numerous occasions, Plaintiff notified MDC that she was capable of returning to workigl.with
at 32 (arguing that Plaintiff veaboth substantially impaired atitht she was perceived to be
impaired by Defendants).
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Biancamanp2013 WL 4082721, at *4 (noting, on a motkondismiss that “it is alleged that
plaintiff was forced to stop working as a resulhaf carpal tunnel and ulnaerve damage in his
left arm in August 2010” and that “[b]ecauseriag is a major life impairment under the ADA,
plaintiff's complaint alleges fastplausibly suggesting that hefeus from an impairment that
satisfies the definition of disability.”).
b. Essential Function

Ms. Carman-Nurse bears the tein of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that
she is capable of performing thssential functionsf her job.See McMillian 711 F.3d at 125.
MDC argues that that Ms. Carman-Nurse’sifion required extensev/typing, answering the
phone and filing out forms by hand. Def. MSJ Mam34-35. Also, “[t]he job description also
contained an analysis of physical requirementsch noted that the only ‘extended’ physical
requirement of the customer service repregere position was ‘cortiant operation of PC
terminal™ Id. at 35. Within the Second Circuit, “[c]lourtaust give considerable deference to an
employer’s judgment regarding whHanctions are essential for sgn in a particular position . .
..” Stevens v. Rite Aid Cor@51 F.3d 224, 229 (2d Cir. 2017) (quotiigannon v. New York
City Transit Authority 332 F.3d 95, 100 (2d Cir. 2003)).

As a result, typing is an essehfianction of Ms. Carman-Nurse’s jobicMillan, 711
F.3d at 126 (requiring “a fact-spéciinquiry into both the employ& description of the job and
how the job is actually performeal practice”). Here the recotdstimony clearly establishes that
Ms. Carman-Nurse was responsible for answgettie phone and typing summaries of each call.
While the parties differ on exactly how many célls. Carman-Nurse had to address each day,

both parties acknowledge that mele required her to sit, answthe phone, and “enter brief
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notes concerning phone calls” aslvas “posting, tabulating, or calculating data.” Pl. MSJ Resp.
Br. at 35.

Ms. Carman-Nurse’s ADA claims fail, howey&ecause she has not placed any evidence
in the record of a possible accommodation thald have allowed her to perform the essential
functions of her job. As addressed above, imlamlverse employment action claims and failure-
to-accommodate claims, the piaff bears both the burdens pifoduction and of persuasion as
to the existence of some accommodatMaoMillan, 711 F.3d at 126. If the accommodation is to
transfer to a different positioshe must either provide ewdce “of an accommodation that
would have allowed her to perform the essential functionsrgbeedisability position” or
“identify a suitable position to whicshe could have been transferred¢Bride, 583 F.3d at 97.

Courts in the Second Circuitgelarly grant summary judgmewnthere a plaintiff fails to
meet her burden of production and persuasion as to a reasonable accomnfoeatiery.

Petrone v. Hampton Bays Union Free Sch. D88 Fed. App’'x 5, 8 (2d Cir. 2014) (“This is
strong evidence that an accommodation of amebeté leave of absence would not have been an
undue hardship for the Districdee42 U.S.C. § 12111(10), but Paetie never met his initial

burden to show that the accommodation was red$endhat is, that it would have allowed him
to return to work.”)Mainella v. Golub Corp No. 1:15-cv-1082 (FJS) (DJS), 2018 WL

1587049, at *7 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 2018) (grargisummary judgment on discrimination and
failure-to-accommodate clainecause “Plaintiff Christine M. has failed to produce any
evidence of a reasonable accommodation thatdvaave allowed her to perform immunizations
at the time of her dismissal”).

Ms. Carman-Nurse has admitted she has not met her b&eene.g.Pl. 56(a)(2) Stmt.

1 57 (“Admit that Plaintiff does not have a futhderstanding of ea@nd every position which
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MDC had available, and which could haween offered as an means of reasonably
accommodating her, as MDC failed entirely tmage in the interactive process.”). This
concession alone necessitatesnging summary judgment witlespect to the Plaintiff's ADA
claims.

Plaintiff argues, however, that MDC is lialtdecause it failed to engage in an interactive
process: “the law imposes upon Defendant an affirmative duty to ascertain whether positions
existed which Plaintiff was capable of perfongyj and actively engage in efforts to keep her
employed.” Pl. Mem. at 36-37. The Court disagrees.

In McBride, the plaintiffalso argued “that her failute identify an accommodation of
any form that would have allowed her to contiremeployment at BIC should be excused in light
of BIC’s purported failure toregage in a sufficient interacéprocess intended to develop a
mutually agreeable accommdiga of her disability."McBride, 583 F.3d at 99. The Second
Circuit rejected that argument, noting that the ADA places liability on refusing to make a
feasible accommodation, “not mere refusadxplore possible accommodations where, in the
end, no accommodation was possibld."at 100.

Ultimately, the Second Circuit held that “an@oyer’s failure to engage in a sufficient
interactive process does not form the basis cfiim under the ADA and evidence thereof does
not allow a plaintiff to avoid summary judgment 8deshe also establishes that, at least with the
aid of some identified accommodation, stes qualified for the position at issuéd” at 101.

“The employer’s failure to engage in suchiateractive process, hawer, does not relieve a
plaintiff of her burden of demonstrating, following discovery, that some accommodation of her

disability was possible.ld.; see also Sheng v. M&T Bank Cor@48 F.3d 78, 87 (2d Cir. 2017)
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(“Therefore, there is no validdependent claim under the ADArftailure to engage in an
interactive process.”).

Ms. Carman-Nurse thus hasléa to put any information ithe record regarding other
positions, or any accommodations that MDC coublkhanplemented to allow her to return to
her old job. She therefore has failed to céiey burden and Defend&htmotion for summary
judgment is granted with respect to her ADA claim.

4. Workers’ Compensation Retaliation Claim

Finally, in Count | of the Amended Compig Ms. Carman-Nurse alleges that MDC
fired her “because she sufferaavork-related injury, sought ameiceived benefits under the
workers’ compensation statutes, and despiteabethat Plaintiff was ready, willing, and able to
return to work . . . . * Am. Compét 5 (citing Conn. Gen. Stat. § 31-290a).

MDC has challenged this claim on two grouniéisst, they have moved to dismiss,
alleging that this Court lacks subject mattergdiction of the claim in the first instancgee
Def.’s Mem. In Supp. Of Mot., ECF No. 24. Second, MDC argues that, even if the Court allows
the claim to proceed beyond the motion to disrsiage, it fails for the same reasons that the
FMLA retaliation claim did.

Arguably, Count | should not have been removed in the first phea28 U.S.C. 8
1445(c) (“A civil action in anystate court arising under the likmen’s compensation laws of
such State may not be removed to arsgritit court of the United States.Wiley v. Hous. Auth.
of City of, Bridgeport926 F. Supp. 2d 420, 426 (D. Conn. 2013) (holding that Conn. Gen. Stat.
§ 31-290a retaliation claim arose under statekers’ compensation law and therefore

remanding to state court under 28 U.S.C. § 1445(c)).
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In any event, the Court has dismissed all fabelaims in this case. “And if the court
determines after removal that, in fact, ther@en®o viable federal-quash claims to confer
jurisdiction, then, it must remaride case, including the supplemémiaims to the state court.”
14C Fed. Prac. & Proc. Juris. 8§ 3722 (4th exg also See Klein & Co. &ues, Inc. v. Board of
Trade of City of New York6 F.3d 255, 262 (2d Cir. 2006) (“Itveell settled that where, as
here, the federal claims are eliminated in théyesdages of litigationgourts should generally
decline to exercise pendent jurisdictiover remaining state law claims.”).

The Court therefore remands this case tdSingerior Court of the State of Connecticut
for the Judicial Disict of Hartford.

IV.  CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated abovefddeant’s motion to amend GRANTED. The motion
to strike iSDENIED. The motion to dismiss BENIED as moot. The motion for summary
judgment iISGRANTED as toPlaintiff's FMLA interference and taliation claims as well as her
ADA claims.

The remainder of the case, her claim for retaliation under Connecticut's Workers’
Compensation statutes, shall be remanded imnedygliat the Superior Court of the State of
Connecticut for the Judici®@istrict of Hartford.

The Clerk of the Court is directed to remahi$ case to the Superior Court of the State
of Connecticut for the Judicial Distriof Hartford and then close it here.

SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 15th day of August, 2018.

/s/ Victor A. Bolden
VICTOR A. BOLDEN
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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